NS233983 Appellate No. D067091

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MIKE HERNANDEZ, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

FRANCESCA MULLER,

v.

Plaintiff and Appellant;

RESTORATION HARDWARE, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

SUPREME COURT

APR 21 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Div. 1, No. D067091; San Diego Superior Court, Central Div., No. 37-2008-00094395-CU-BT-CTL Hon. William S. Dato, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Class Member and Appellant Francesca Muller (hereinafter "Class Member Muller") respectfully petitions this Court for review of the March 14, 2016, published opinion of the California Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Hernandez, et al., Pls. and Resp'ts; Francesca Muller, Pl. and Appellant v. Restoration Hardware, Inc., Def. and Resp't, No. D067091, 2016 Cal.App. LEXIS 185 (4th App. Dist., Div. 1, Mar. 14, 2016) (hereinafter "Restoration Hardware Op.").

A copy of the published opinion is attached as Exhibit 1.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED

Does this Court's 74-year-old decision in *Eggert v. Pacific States Savings and Loan Company, et al.*, 20 Cal.2d 199 (Apr. 21, 1942), requiring an unnamed class member in a class action to intervene¹ in the litigation in order to obtain appellate standing, continue to be the law of this state?

Appellants were not named as parties to the action.... Although their attorney appeared at the hearing on the petition for the payment of the money to plaintiff's attorneys and objected to such payment, he did not ask that appellants be made parties, nor did the court order them brought into the action.

....

The appeal is therefore dismissed ... [a]s appellants have no right to appeal....

Eggert at 201 (emphasis added).

The Fourth Appellate District's *Restoration Hardware* decision, dismissing an unnamed class member's appeal of an award of attorneys' fees to Class Counsel, relies on this Court's 1942 decision in *Eggert* as its principal ground.

Eggert appears to be on "all fours" with the present action: both involved a class action; both involved a matter litigated to judgment; both involved a challenge to the postjudgment attorney fee award to the counsel for the named plaintiff; both involved appellants who were members of the class, but not named parties, and who had appeared through counsel to object to the attorney fee award; and both involved members who took no steps to be added as named plaintiffs. Accordingly ... we must adhere to Eggert and dismiss the appeal.

Restoration Hardware Op. at *14 (footnote omitted; citation omitted; emphasis added).

¹ *Eggert*, 20 Cal.2d at 201, sets the requirement of becoming a "party to the record," which the Restoration Hardware decision has interpreted to mean "intervening" (Op. at *21-*22) to accomplish this status.

Is this Court's 1942 *Eggert* decision controlling authority for the rule that, in California, an unnamed class member in a class action can only obtain appellate standing by intervening? Or should this Court adopt the position of the otherwise nearly unanimous² California courts of appeal (see No. 1 below and pages 16-19, *infra*), which have recognized appellate standing for unnamed class members who do not seek to intervene but who file an objection and appear at a fairness hearing.

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

1. This Court should grant review of the *Restoration Hardware* decision in order to "secure uniformity" (California Rules of Court (CRC), Rule 8.500(b)(1)) in the appellate courts of California because there is now a split of authority. *Restoration Hardware* holds that a class member must seek intervention and move to vacate the judgment (Op. at *21-*22) in order to obtain appellate standing. This holding conflicts with the holdings of numerous other appellate districts, which have held that a class member may obtain appellate standing by filing an objection and attending the fairness hearing.

The Second Appellate District's:

- 1975 decision in *Trotsky v. Los Angeles Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n, et al.*, 48 Cal.App.3d 134 [121 Cal.Rptr. 637] (2d App. Dist., Div. 5, May 6, 1975);
- 2005 decision in Consumer Cause, Inc. v. Mrs. Gooch's Natural Food Market, Inc. (hereinafter Mrs. Gooch), 127 Cal.App.4th 387 [127 Cal.Rptr.3d 514] (2d App. Dist., Div. 7, Mar. 7, 2005).

² But see Sherman v. Allstate Ins. Co., 90 Cal.App.4th 121 [108 Cal.Rptr.2d 722] (2d App. Dist., Div. 7, June 25, 2001), page 20, infra, denying standing to a class member who did not intervene.

The First Appellate District's:

- 1984 decision in *Simons v. Horowitz, et al.*, 151 Cal.App.3d 834 [199 Cal.Rptr. 134] (1st App. Dist., Div. 3, Feb. 7, 1984);
- 1990 decision in *Rebney v. Wells Fargo Bank*, 220 Cal.App.3d 1117 [269 Cal.Rptr. 844] (1st App. Dist., Div. 2, May 25, 1990);
- 2008 decision in Chavez v. Netflix, Inc., 162 Cal.App.4th 43 [75 Cal.Rptr.3d 413] (1st App. Dist., Div. 1, Apr. 21, 2008);
- 2015 decision in *Roos v. Honeywell International, Inc.*, 241 Cal.App.4th 1472 [194 Cal.Rptr.3d 735] (1st App. Dist., Div. 1, Nov. 10, 2015).

The Sixth Appellate District's:

• 2001 decision in *Wershba v. Apple Computer*, 91 Cal.App.4th 224 [110 Cal.Rptr.2d 145] (6th App. Dist. July 31, 2001).

And, an earlier Fourth Appellate District's:

• 2006 decision in *Consumer Defense Group v. Rental Housing Industry Members*, 137 Cal.App.4th 1185 [40 Cal.Rptr.3d 832] (4th App. Dist., Div. 3, Mar. 24, 2006).

There are now two contradictory rules of law in published appellate decisions concerning how unnamed class members in California class actions achieve appellate standing. Until the *Restoration Hardware* decision, the filing of an objection and attendance at a fairness hearing were sufficient. *Restoration Hardware* has changed that and created new conflicting authority. The law on standing in California's appellate courts is now unsettled. This conflict in authorities warrants this Court's attention.

This court should rule on whether its 74-year-old decision in *Eggert*, supra, relied upon by Restoration Hardware – requiring formal intervention – continues to be the law for unnamed class members. If Eggert is no longer valid, then Restoration Hardware should be overruled.

- 2. This Court should grant review of the *Restoration Hardware* decision because it is "necessary to ... settle an important question of law...." (CRC, Rule 8.500(b)(1).)
- (a) Class actions have become of paramount importance in the litigation landscape. Class members in class actions throughout the state of California regularly take appeals from superior court approvals of class action settlements and/or awards of attorneys' fees to class counsel. They need to know whether formal intervention is required. The class action mechanism's approval process curtails thousands, indeed millions, of California class members' property rights through the res judicata effect of class action judgments.

Our Supreme Court recently cautioned that the class action device ... also carries with it substantial dangers of injustice to class members who <u>may be</u> deprived of their rights by the actions of the class plaintiff.

Trotsky, supra, 48 Cal.App.3d at 149 (emphasis added).

Unless this Court intercedes, the *Restoration Hardware* decision will now be available to any California Court of Appeal wishing to dismiss an appeal by an unnamed class member, without getting to the merits of the arguments. Because "there is no horizontal *stare decisis* in the California Court of Appeal," *Sarti v. Salt Creek Ltd.*, 167 Cal.App.4th 1187, 1193 [85 Cal.Rptr.3d 506] (4th App. Dist., Div. 3, Oct. 27, 2008), the *Restoration Hardware* decision creates a procedural uncertainty that only this Court can resolve. To leave this issue in doubt will allow other appellate districts and divisions within those districts throughout the state to follow, as they might choose, either line of contradictory cases to grant or deny appellate review on important issues of class action procedure.

""One [court of appeal] district or division may refuse to follow a prior decision of a different district or division...""

Sarti, supra, 167 Cal.App.4th at 1194 n.4 (citations omitted).

- (b) Direction from this Court is necessary in light of the number of occasions in which class action appellate decisions address standing issues in unpublished as well as published opinions. For example:
- Mostajo v. Anchor General Ins. Co., No. G033640, 2005
 Cal.App.Unpub. LEXIS 2525 (4th App. Dist., Div. 3, Mar. 22, 2005).
- Williams v. Bre Property Investors, et al., No. A111414,
 2006 Cal.App. Unpub. LEXIS 6850 (1st App. Dist., Div. 1, Aug. 7, 2006).
- Santiago v. Kia Motors America, Inc., No. G036985, 2007
 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 4792 (June 15, 2007).
- Bronk v. Talarico, No. B1854000, 2007 Cal.App.Unpub.
 LEXIS 1540 (2d App. Dist., Div. 3, Feb. 28, 2007).
- Yip v. Zia, et al., No. B188228, 2007 Cal. App. Unpub.
 LEXIS 3243 (2d App. Dist., Div. 3, Apr. 24, 2007).
- Grinberg v. Maria's Holding Corp., No. B244535, 2013
 Cal.App. Unpub. LEXIS 8324 (2d App. Dist., Div. 4, Nov. 18, 2013).
- Alonzo v. First Transit, Inc., No. B253699, 2015 Cal.App.
 Unpub. LEXIS 7415 (2d App. Dist., Div. 7, Oct. 15, 2015).

The aforementioned cases are cited not as authority on any legal issue, but only as an indication that the standing issue is important and needs resolution by this Court. While these unpublished³ decisions were predominately consistent with *Trotsky*, *supra*, one case, *Santiago v. Kia Motors*, in dismissing an unnamed class member's appeal, relied on *Eggert*:

A Supreme Court decision requiring dismissal of an appeal by non-parties to a class action, *Eggert v*.

³ See accompanying Appellant's Motion for Judicial Notice in Support of Petition for Review and supporting documents.

Pac. States S. & L. Co. (1942) 20 Cal.2d 199 (Eggert), applies a fortiori to this case.

. . . .

To the degree, of course, that the rule relied on by the *Mrs. Gooch* court might arguably be read to contradict *Eggert*, the latter [*Eggert*] case controls.

Santiago, supra, 2007 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 4792 at *6 and *11, respectively.

(c) Another unsettled area of law that this Court could clarify concerns the very designation of this problem as one of standing (*Restoration Hardware* Op. at *21-*22). This Court's attention is directed to *Jasmine Networks*, *Inc. v. The Superior Court of Santa Clara Co.*, 180 Cal.App.4th 980 [103 Cal.Rptr.3d 426] (6th App. Dist. Dec. 29, 2009). Although discussing standing in the context of standing to sue, *Jasmine* raises an argument that appears relevant to appellate standing as well.

This [standing] concept "has been largely a creature of twentieth century decisions of the federal courts."... It is rooted in the *constitutionally limited subject matter jurisdiction* of those courts.... (...["The threshold requirements are attributed to the 'case' and 'controversy' terms that define the federal judicial power in Article III..."].)

"There is no similar requirement in our state Constitution...."

Id. at 990 (citations omitted).

On the federal side, *Devlin v. Scardelletti*, 536 U.S. 1 (June 10, 2002), also indicates that standing is not the appropriate concept of legal analysis regarding the right of unnamed class members in class actions to appeal.

Although the Fourth Circuit framed the issue as one of standing, [Scardelletti v. Debarr, 265 F.3d 195 (4th Cir. 2001),] at 204, we begin by clarifying that this issue does not implicate the jurisdiction of the courts under Article III of the Constitution.

• • • •

Nor do appeals by nonnamed class members raise the sorts of concerns that are ordinarily addressed as a matter of prudential standing....

Devlin, 536 U.S. at 6 and 7, respectively.

3. This Court should grant review because the *Restoration Hardware* decision's reliance on this Court's decision in *Eggert* involves an important issue of public policy regarding the appellate rights of unnamed class members in class actions. Each year millions, if not tens of millions, of Californians are involuntarily brought into class action litigation as unnamed class members. Their rights are adjudicated without their active participation and appeal is the only mechanism that allows them to obtain judicial review of trial court decisions affecting their rights.

The burdens placed on unnamed class members by *Restoration*Hardware in order to obtain appellate standing is a public concern that warrants this

Court's attention. Consumers brought into class action litigation without their

permission should not have the burden of being obligated to file complaints in

intervention and motions to vacate to protect their rights. Equally important, these

burdens are unnecessary and superfluous to the extent that intervention by an unnamed

class member who files an objection and attends a fairness hearing must be granted as

a matter of right.

[I]f the person seeking intervention claims an interest relating to the property to transaction which is the subject of the action and that person is so situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede that person's ability to protect that interest, unless that person's interest is adequately represented by existing parties, the court shall, upon timely application, permit that person to intervene.

(California Code of Civil Procedure, section 387(b) (emphasis added).)

The Restoration Hardware's requirements of motions to intervene and motions to vacate the judgment make unnecessary work for objectors, class counsel, defense

counsel, the trial court judge, and appellate courts. They also dissuade unnamed class members from seeking appellate review when their rights are violated.

4. This Court should grant review because there is a potential that this issue will not be raised in this Court in the foreseeable future.

Class Member Muller respectfully requests that this Court grant review of the *Restoration Hardware* decision because the issue of unnamed class members' ability to obtain appellate standing merits this Court's review now. *Eggert, supra*, is a 74-year-old, two-page decision bereft of discussion of legal principles or policy arguments.

As noted by Seventh Circuit Court of Appeal Judge Frank H.

Easterbrook, basic issues of class action jurisprudence are often left unresolved:

Because a large proportion of class actions settl[e] or [are] resolved in a way that overtakes procedural matters, some fundamental issues about class actions are poorly developed.... But, the more fundamental the question and the greater the likelihood that it will escape effective disposition at the end of the case, the more appropriate is an appeal....

Blair v. Equifax Check Services, Inc., 181 F.3d 832, 835 (7th Cir. 1999) (emphasis added).

5. This Court should grant review because the judiciary has a special responsibility to ensure the proper functioning of the class action mechanism.

The class action is a judicial creation. California courts have a special role ("The courts are supposed to be the guardians of the class." *Kullar v. Foot Locker Retail, Inc., et al.*⁴) in ensuring that the rights of unnamed class members in the appellate process are protected. This Court should at least reconsider *Eggert* in light of more current federal practice, noting that "a sea-change (sic) in the nature of class actions" has occurred (*In re Prudential Ins. Co. Am. Sales Practice Litig.*, 148 F.3d

^{4 168} Cal.App.4th 116, 129 [85 Cal.Rptr.3d 20] (1st App. Dist. Oct. 14, 2008) (citations omitted).

283, 323 (3d Cir. July 23, 1998)), which this Court has suggested can provide guidance to California courts. There is now confusion and uncertainty about the procedures required for unnamed class members to protect their appellate rights.

The responsibility of the judiciary to ensure the proper functioning of the class action mechanism extends to appellate courts as well.

While the statements in In re GM Trucks and Zucker refer to the authority of district, not appellate, courts in connection with class action settlements, the cases make clear that <u>reviewing courts</u> retain an interest – a most special and predominate interest – in the fairness of class action settlements and attorneys' fee awards.

In re Cendant PRIDES Litig., 243 F.3d 722, 731 (3d Cir. Mar. 21, 2001) (emphasis added).⁵

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The detailed facts of this case are available in the "Factual and Procedural Background" contained in the *Restoration Hardware* opinion (see Exhibit 1, p. 2). This Statement of the Case will highlight the issues specifically relevant to this appeal, as well as note the inaccuracies in the court of appeal's statement of "Factual and Procedural Background."

Michael Hernandez filed this class action in the San Diego Superior Court in 2008, alleging that Defendant Restoration Hardware violated Civil Code § 1747.08 of the Song-Beverly Credit Card Act of 1971 by requesting and recording zip codes from consumers who used a credit card for purchasing items in Defendant's California retail stores.

⁵ "[I]n the absence of controlling state authority, California courts should utilize the procedures of [R]ule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (28 U.S.C.) to ensure fairness in the resolution of class action suits." Jolly v. Eli Lilly & Co., 44 Cal.3d 1103, 1118 [245 Cal. Rptr. 658] (Apr. 7, 1988).

On June 19, 2013, Plaintiff Class Member Muller filed a "Notice of Appearance of Additional Counsel" in the litigation (Appellant's Appendix ("AA") at 3):

The undersigned counsel hereby appears as additional counsel on behalf of Plaintiff Class Member Francesca Muller in the abovecaptioned class action.

in response to a "Notice of Pendency of Class Action" she received (AA 1, 2).

The June 2013 notice to potential class members advised them of the pending class action and explained they had the option of (1) remaining as part of the class and being bound by the judgment, or (2) excluding themselves from the class and not being bound by any judgment. It also advised that, if they elected to remain in the class, they had the option of entering an appearance through counsel.

Restoration Hardware Op. at *3 (emphasis added).

Class Member Muller "did not move to intervene in the action, or to join as an additional class representative, or to be substituted for Michael Hernandez and Amanda Georgino as class representative." *Restoration Hardware* Op. at *3.

The issues regarding the class's damage claims were decided at a bench trial in January 2014. By virtue of the court's decision on the merits, a common fund of \$36,412,350 was created. After the trial court's decision on the merits and the establishment of a settlement fund, Class Counsel directly negotiated a settlement of their fee with the Defendant.

After meeting and conferring at arms-length (sic) with Restoration Hardware to avoid further litigation on this issue, Class Counsel agreed to request only 25% of the common fund and Restoration Hardware agreed not to oppose this request.

(Decl. James R. Patterson in Support of Mot. for an Award of Attorneys' Fees, etc., Respondents' Appendix to Opposition Brief ("RA"), at 122:12-14.)

Plaintiffs' counsel filed a "Notice of Motion and Motion for: 1) Award of Attorneys' Fees, etc." (RA 87), setting September 5, 2014, as the date for the hearing

on the motion. Class Counsel requested a common fund attorneys' fee award of 25% of the class's recovery, or \$9,103,087.50, as a reasonable attorneys' fee.

No notice was sent to class members, advising them that Class Counsel sought a fee of 25% (or \$9.1 million) to be paid out of their recovery. Thusly, there was no mechanism for unnamed class members to file objections or even become aware that Class Counsel had filed a fee motion.

On September 2, 2014, Plaintiff Class Member Muller filed a "Request for Clarification and to Appear Telephonically at the September 5, 2014, Hearing" (AA 5), on Class Counsel's motion.

On September 5, 2014, the trial court held a hearing at which Class Counsel and Defendant's counsel participated, as well as counsel for Class Member Muller, who objected to the court's approval of Class Counsel's fee request:

At the hearing on the attorney fee application, Muller objected that considering the attorney fees application without first giving class members notice of the fee application and the right to appear and comment on the application was a violation of class action procedures because this fee award was "a settlement as regards to the attorneys' fees...."

Restoration Hardware Op. at *8.

The trial court approved the negotiated attorneys' fee as requested and filed its Final Judgment on September 29, 2014. (AA 14.)

On November 24, 2014, Plaintiff Class Member Muller filed a timely Notice of Appeal (AA 29) of the trial court's Final Judgment to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

On March 14, 2016, the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District issued its published opinion (Exhibit 1 attached), dismissing Class Member Muller's appeal on the ground of lack of standing (without reaching the merits of her claim).

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