No. S233983

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MIKE HERNANDEZ, et al, *Plaintiffs and Respondents*,

FRANCESCA MULLER, Plaintiff and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 1 2 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

RESTORATION HARDWARE, INC. Defendant and Respondent.

ν.

Deputy

(CRC (8,25(b))

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal of the State of California Fourth Appellate District, Division One Case No. D067091

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the County of San Diego The Honorable William S. Dato Case No. 27-2008-00094395-CU-BT-CTL

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE
CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE ARE THE
EXCEPTION, NOT THE BASIS FOR A NEW RULE
THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE EGGERT IS
GOOD LAW AND POLICY, PARTICULARLY WHERE
CLASS CLAIMS ARE ADJUDICATED ON THE MERITS
THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE PETITIONER
WAS NOT AGGRIEVED BY THE TRIAL COURT'S
ORDER AND THEREFORE, LACKS STANDING
CONCLUSION11

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES Page(s)
Consumer Privacy Cases (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 545
County of Alameda v. Carleson (1971) 5 Cal.3d 730
Dunk v. Ford Motor Co. (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794
Eggert v. Pacific States Savs. & Loan Co., (1942) 20 Cal.2d 199passim
Estrada v. RPS, Inc. (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 976
Hernandez v. Restoration Hardware, Inc. (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 651
Rebney v. Wells Fargo Bank (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 1117
Wershba v. Apple Computer, Inc. (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 224
<u>STATUTES</u>
California Civil Code section 1747.08
California Civil Code section 902
RULES
California Rules of Court, rule 3.769

INTRODUCTION

The Petition should be denied because this case is an exception that should not be the basis of any new rule. The issue below was the appropriateness of attorney fees awarded after a trial on the merits in a class action. If civil trials are a rare breed, civil class action trials are an endangered species. In a recent study commissioned by the California Administrative Office of Courts, only 0.7% of the cases studied were disposed of through a trial verdict. Petitioner is asking the Court to establish a new rule, and overrule longstanding precedent based on an anomaly.

Moreover, the attorneys' fees awarded—25% of the trial court's judgment following trial—is well below California's 33% benchmark, and was eminently reasonable considering this case began eight years ago, and was doggedly pursued through interlocutory appeals and trial. There was no reason for the Court of Appeal to reverse the attorneys' fees award, and there is no reason for this Court to step in now.

If this Court is concerned about the rule set forth in Eggert v. Pacific States Savs. & Loan Co., (1942) 20 Cal.2d 199 [124 P.2d 815] (hereafter Eggert), which requires an unnamed class member to intervene as a party to obtain appellate standing, the most it should do is depublish Hernandez v. Restoration Hardware, Inc. (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 651 [199 Cal.Rptr.3d 719]. Because of the unique factual circumstances of Hernandez, which involved a decision on the merits rather than settlement, it is not well-suited to serve as new precedent. Any decision by this Court would mostly be applied to class action settlements, which are already subject to specific procedures for approval under the California Rules of Court. If this Court

affirms or overrules *Eggert*, it should do so in the context of a class action settlement, rather than a class action trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Michael Hernandez filed this case on October 21, 2008, alleging that Defendant violated the Song-Beverly Credit Card Act, California Civil Code section 1747.08, by requesting and recording ZIP codes from credit card consumers. Respondent Amanda Georgino joined as a plaintiff on May 23, 2012. On June 1, 2012, Judge William S. Dato of the San Diego County Superior Court certified the case as a class action, and appointed Respondents as Class representatives, and Patterson Law Group and Stonebarger Law as Class Counsel.

Class members received notice of the pending class action by direct mail and email in June 2013. The notice advised Class members that they had the option to either: 1) remain in the Class and be bound by any judgment; or 2) opt out of the Class and not be bound by any judgment.

In response to the notice, Mr. Lawrence Schonbrun entered an appearance in the action on behalf of Petitioner Francesca Muller. Petitioner never took any action to formally intervene in the case, or join as a class representative.

Judge Dato tried the case in January 2014. The trial court's Proposed Statement of Decision found that Defendant committed approximately 1,213,745 violations of Section 1747.08 during the class period, and awarded a penalty of \$30 per violation.

At the trial court's direction, the parties stipulated to a claims process, which the court adopted in the final judgment. The claims process

adopted the trial court's finding that each class member is entitled to \$30 per violation, but also expanded Class members' rights substantially:

- Defendant stipulated to a final judgment amount of \$36,412,350 based on the *maximum number* of 1,213,745 violations at \$30 per violation;
- Defendant waived any right to appeal the judgment;
- Class members had the option of submitting a claim form for \$30 cash per violation as awarded by the court following trial;
- Known Class Members received a freely transferable coupon worth up to \$3,333.33 in true savings, even if they did not submit a claim form for cash; and
- Defendant stipulated that the entire \$36,412,350 final judgment must all be paid out through the claims for cash and actual redeemed coupons.¹

Petitioner did not object to the Final Statement of Decision or the proposed claims process.

Class Counsel filed a motion for attorneys' fees in the amount of \$9,103,087.50, or 25% of the \$36,412,350 judgment amount. Defendant agreed not to oppose the request if it was limited to 25% of the judgment following trial (as opposed to 33%). At the trial court's request, Class Counsel supplemented the motion with a traditional lodestar calculation.

Class Counsel served a copy of its lodestar analysis on Petitioner. The lodestar analysis showed that Class Counsel expended over 3,542.6

¹ Defendant filed an accounting with the trial court on April 5, 2016 confirming that it actually paid out \$63,500,309.17—far more than what was required to satisfy the trial court's judgment.

hours and \$2,681,062.92 in fees and costs up to that date, and provided detailed information regarding which attorneys worked on the case, the hours they spent on various tasks, and the reasonableness of their hourly rates.²

Petitioner did not file an objection or opposition to Respondents' motion for attorneys' fees. Instead, Petitioner filed a "Request for Clarification," asking the court to clarify whether Class members would receive notice of the fee application and a right to comment or appear at the hearing, and whether Class Counsel would be required to file lodestar information (which they did).

Petitioner appeared telephonically at the hearing on the motion for attorneys' fees. She conceded that she had no authority to support her request that the trial court order a second notice to Class members regarding the fee motion. She did not object to the amount of fees requested, and admitted that she could only "guess" as to whether Class Counsel submitted sufficient information for a lodestar analysis, even though she had received Class Counsel's lodestar analysis. After the hearing, Petitioner filed an Objection to the [Proposed] Final Judgment. The trial court did not rule on this objection.

The trial court awarded Class Counsel \$9,103,087.50 in attorneys' fees, finding the amount "eminently reasonable" in light of the risks taken in prosecuting this action from its initiation, through an interlocutory appeals process, and finally, through trial.

² The amount of hours spent on this case has increased substantially due to post-trial work administering the claims, and this appeal.

THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE ARE THE EXCEPTION, NOT THE BASIS FOR A NEW RULE

This case is the exception, not the norm. Class action cases rarely proceed to trial in California. In a recent study commissioned by the California Administrative Office of the Courts, only 0.7% of 1,294 class action cases studied were disposed of by a trial verdict. (Judicial Council of Cal. AOC (March 2009) Findings of the Study of California Class Action Litigation, 2000-2006, p. 11 (hereafter Study of California Class Action Litigation), attached as Exhibit 1.)

The cases Petitioner cites to raise a conflict with *Eggert* involve class action *settlements*. In a settlement, class counsel is negotiating a compromise of the class' substantive claims. A potential conflict of interest exists because class counsel could be tempted to compromise the class's claims to enhance or guarantee their attorney fees. California Rules of Court, rule 3.769 addresses this conflict by imposing strict requirements for approval of class action settlements.

The California study found that 31.9% of class actions are resolved by settlement. (Study of Class Action Litigation, *supra*, at p. 11.) If this Court is concerned with how *Hernandez* will apply to class action settlements, the simplest way to address this concern is to depublish it. It makes no sense to reconsider the rule set forth in *Eggert* in a case that is essentially a procedural anomaly.

THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE EGGERT IS GOOD LAW AND POLICY, PARTICULARLY WHERE CLASS CLAIMS ARE ADJUDICATED ON THE MERITS

When class claims are resolved on the merits, class members are not "parties" with rights to appeal. (*Eggert*, *supra*, 20 Cal.2d at p. 200.) In *Eggert*, the California Supreme Court dismissed the appeal of two class members who objected to an award of attorney fees because they were not "parties" to the record. (*Ibid*.) After entering judgment for the class in the amount of \$1.85 million, the trial court in *Eggert* awarded attorney fees to class counsel as a percentage of the total recovery. (*Ibid*.) The class representative subsequently petitioned for an order to distribute the judgment to class members after deducting attorney fees. (*Ibid*.) At the hearing on that petition, two unnamed class members appeared through an attorney and objected to the attorney fees award. (*Ibid*.) The trial court granted plaintiff's petition, and the unnamed class members appealed on behalf of themselves and all other class members. (*Ibid*.) The class representative moved to dismiss the appeal. (*Ibid*.)

The California Supreme Court dismissed the appeal because "it is a settled rule of practice in this state that only a party to the record can appeal." (*Eggert*, *supra*, 20 Cal.2d at p. 201.) The *Eggert* court held that the unnamed class members failed to take appropriate steps to become parties to the record. (*Ibid.*) Merely appearing at the hearing on attorney fees was insufficient to confer standing. (*Ibid.*) Instead, appellants should have moved to vacate the judgment and then appealed from the order denying the motion to vacate. (*Ibid.*; see also *County of Alameda v. Carleson* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 730, 736 [97 Cal.Rptr. 385, 488 P.2d 953] (hereafter *Carleson*) ["[O]ne who is legally 'aggrieved' by a judgment may become a party of record and obtain a right to appeal by moving to vacate the judgment . . .

."].) Because the *Eggert* class members did not do so, they were not parties to the record and lacked standing to appeal on behalf of themselves and the other class members. (*Eggert*, *supra*, 20 Cal.2d at p. 201.)

Eggert governs here, and the appellate court correctly held that it compelled dismissal. Petitioner did not take any steps to become a party to the record. Petitioner did not ask to be named a class representative, or demonstrate any willingness to take on the responsibilities and risks of a class representative. Nor did Petitioner move to vacate the final judgment. As Petitioner was advised in the class notice, by deciding to stay in the Class she was bound by the judgment.

Petitioner's appearance at the hearing on the motion for attorney fees does not confer appellate standing. California Rules of Court, rule 3.769 only allows class members the right to additional notice and an opportunity to object when a *settlement* affects "an entire class action, or . . . a cause of action in a class action." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.769(a).) Petitioner conceded in her opening brief that "[t]he underlying litigation was resolved not by settlement, but through a court bench trial." The Class Representatives pursued this case through trial, and obtained a verdict awarding \$30 in penalties per violation, which is exactly what Petitioner and the other class members received through the claims process. The Class's claims were resolved on the merits, not by settlement or compromise.

THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE PETITIONER WAS NOT AGGRIEVED BY THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER AND THEREFORE, LACKS STANDING

Petitioner does not have standing because she was not aggrieved by the attorneys' fees award. (See Code Civ. Proc., § 902.) An "aggrieved" party is one whose rights or interests are injuriously affected by the judgment. (*Carleson*, *supra*, 5 Cal.3d at p. 737.) An appellant's interest "must be immediate, pecuniary, and substantial and not nominal or a remote consequence of the judgment." (*Ibid.*, quotation marks and citation omitted.) An appellant may not assert error that injuriously affected only non-appealing class members. (*Rebney v. Wells Fargo Bank* (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 1117, 1128 [269 Cal.Rptr. 844].)

Petitioner asserted two errors at the hearing on Plaintiffs' motion for attorneys' fees: (1) the court did not require a separate notice be sent to all Class members regarding Class Counsel's motion for fees; and (2) the court based its attorneys' fees award on the percentage of the fund method instead of the lodestar method. Petitioner was not aggrieved by either of these alleged errors.

Petitioner was not aggrieved by the first alleged error because she received notice and an opportunity to comment on Class Counsel's motion for attorneys' fees. Petitioner cannot claim lack of notice to other Class members as error. She is not a class representative, and does not have standing to assert an alleged error on behalf of other Class members that did not affect her. (See *Estrada v. RPS, Inc.* (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 976, 985 [23 Cal.Rptr. 261] ["[C]lass members who are themselves aggrieved by trial court errors may, on appeal, assert those errors on behalf of the entire class – but the appellants must show they were, in fact harmed by the errors asserted."]; *Rebney, supra*, 220 Cal.App.3d at p. 1128.)

Petitioner was not aggrieved by the second alleged error because she never challenged the amount of attorneys' fees awarded. In fact, Petitioner admitted at the hearing on the motion for attorneys' fees that she had not even reviewed Class Counsel's lodestar submission. Her objection to the attorneys' fees award is purely theoretical. By failing to make any argument that the trial court's use of the percentage of the fund method prejudiced her by awarding excessive attorneys' fees, Petitioner waived this argument. (Wershba v. Apple Computer, Inc. (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 224, 237 [110 Cal.Rptr.2d 145] ["[T]o the extent that the objectors raise an entirely new theory here, which was not considered by the court below, we will not entertain such an issue for the first time on appeal."].)

Petitioner is also not aggrieved because she does not have a property interest in the amount of attorneys' fees awarded by the trial court. She assumes, without authority, that any reduction in attorneys' fees awarded would revert to the Class. The trial court's statement of decision, however, did not award Class members a proportional share of the \$36,412,350 judgment amount. Rather, it awarded Class members the option of claiming a \$30 cash award per violation, or accepting a coupon worth savings of up to \$3,333.33. All Class members received these benefits regardless of the amount of the attorneys' fees awarded. If the fee award were reduced, it would not revert to Class members, who have already been paid under the judgment. (See Consumer Privacy Cases (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 545, 559 [96 Cal.Rptr.3d 127] [rejecting objector's argument that class is entitled to the difference between the amount of attorney fees that defendant agreed not to object to, and the amount awarded by the court].) Petitioner has not suffered any property loss or harm from the attorneys' fees award. Therefore, she is not an "aggrieved" party under Code of Civil Procedure section 902.

Petitioner has argued that *Dunk v. Ford Motor Co.* (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794 [56 Cal.Rptr.2d 483], gives her standing. In *Dunk*, the court held that a class member had standing to object to attorney fees awarded *pursuant to a settlement*, even though the class member did not have a property interest in the attorney fees. (*Id.* at p. 1808.) The *Dunk* court found that objectors to a class action settlement have standing to challenge an attorney fees award "because, if the agreement provided an incentive for one or more of the class attorneys not to litigate and thereby put his own interests ahead of the clients, then all class members were harmed." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Rebney, supra*, 220 Cal.App.3d at p. 1142.)

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